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This book is dedicated to the five men, Jim Feltz, Ken Brown, Ed Burke, Jack Simpson, and John Gallagher, and to their shipmates on the USS Plunkett (DD-431).





LIST OF CREW MEMBERS

ABOARD PLUNKETT



	Edward J. Burke, commander, captain of Plunkett, January 1943–February 1944

	Kenneth B. Brown, lieutenant and gunnery officer

	James D. Feltz, water tender third class (on repair party and later in fire room at general quarters)

	John J. Gallagher, water tender third class (on 20mm gun at general quarters)

	John P. Simpson, first lieutenant, led ship’s damage control parties



ENLISTED MEN


	Thomas A. Garner, water tender third class

	Irvin J. Gebhart, machinist’s mate third class

	Hugh F. Geraghty, machinist’s mate second class

	Kenneth P. “Dutch” Heissler, chief commissary steward

	James P. McManus, gunner’s mate first class

	John D. Oakley, gunner’s mate third class

	James H. Shipp, shipfitter third class

	Edward A. Webber, machinist’s mate second class

	Vitold B. Zakrzewski, machinist’s mate second class



OFFICERS


	David H. Bates, lieutenant, ship’s doctor, until late September 1943

	Sherman R. Clark, squadron commander, 1942

	James P. Clay, squadron commander, from November 1, 1943

	John F. Collingwood, lieutenant and executive officer, 1943–1944

	John C. Jolly, lieutenant and executive officer, 1943

	Wesley E. Knaup, lieutenant (jg), succeeded Bates as ship’s doctor

	Lewis R. Miller, captain of Plunkett, September 1942–January 1943

	John B. Oliver, lieutenant (jg)

	Russell S. Wright, ensign



FAMILY AND FRIENDS, AT HOME AND AT WAR


	Mickey Betts, Betty Kneemiller’s aunt

	Adele Burke, Captain Burke’s wife

	Joseph A. Donahue, a neighbor of Gallagher’s in Dorchester who served as a gunner’s mate on the USS Niblack


	Irene Feltz, Jim Feltz’s mother

	Bernice Meehan Gallagher, Charlie Gallagher’s wife

	Charlie Gallagher, John Gallagher’s brother

	Frank Gallagher, Fifth Army medic, John Gallagher’s brother

	Martha Gallagher, John Gallagher’s mother

	Betty Kneemiller, Jim Feltz’s girlfriend



DESTROYERS WITH PLUNKETT IN THE MEDITERRANEAN


	USS Rowan (DD-405)

	USS Buck (DD-420)

	USS Benson (DD-421)

	USS Mayo (DD-422)

	USS Gleaves (DD-423)

	
USS Niblack (DD-424)

	USS Ludlow (DD-438)

	USS Edison (DD-439)

	USS Maddox (DD-622)

	USS Shubrick (DD-639)






THE DAWN PART I
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By the time Plunkett went into Casablanca in the second wave of Operation Torch, Gallagher (lower right) and Feltz (between the dark-skinned French sailor and Irvin Gebhart) had joined the ship’s engineering crew. Vitold “Ski” Zakrzewski is squatting beside Gallagher.








1: THE GODDAMNED HARBOR

JANUARY 1944

Every year on the Fourth of July through the early 1970s, my extended family gathered in the backyard of our house in Quincy, Massachusetts. They came with dented metal coolers, crockpots, and foil-covered casserole dishes, in Bermuda shorts and headscarfs, with webbed lawn chairs and Polaroid cameras, from jobs as union pipe coverers, tool-and-die mechanics, and subway car drivers (the men) and housework and child-rearing (the women). They’d bang the earwigs out of the aluminum tubes of their lawn chairs, set them in a great circle, and call for the younger kids to fetch cans of Schlitz and Narragansett. My great-uncle Frank Gallagher used to call for his whiskey with two thick fingers waved overhead, as if giving the signal to move out, and some obliging niece or nephew would pour him a neat one from the gang of bottles on our porch. Most of the great-uncles, like Frank, had gone away to World War II, which was a circumstance of personal history so ordinary in that backyard on those languorous afternoons that the details hardly qualified as something to talk about. Little was said, for example, about the shell that blew my grandmother’s youngest brother, Eddie Martin, out of a foxhole after he’d waded ashore at Omaha Beach and fought his way into Normandy. (They recovered Eddie upside down in a tree, good to go for another thirty years, albeit with one leg missing.) As a boy, I’d have liked to have heard that story, or what it was like for my great-uncle Billy Lydon to burst into Bastogne on a tank during the Battle of the Bulge. Billy saw more combat than any of us, my great-uncle Leo Meehan told me after Billy died, shaking his head over what he knew. Instead in those days, rather than remember the horror and the anguish of what they’d seen and experienced, they talked about what was funny or improbable. One great-uncle’s most frequently told story involved an ice cream machine he’d dropped in the Pacific when he was trying to transfer it by haul line from his supply ship to another Navy vessel. Another great-uncle liked to tell about how he’d tapped an electrical circuit in a colonel’s bunker so his crew in the neighboring bunker, on a godforsaken beachhead, could also have light. And then there was the time Frank Gallagher slipped from camp and made his way into Naples, Italy, one day in January of 1944…

It was before sunset, and a U.S. Navy destroyer, the USS Plunkett, lay at anchor in 32 fathoms (180 feet) of water. From the bridge, the officer of the deck had recorded the ship’s position in the deck logs with respect to several local landmarks. Fort Dell’Ovo, a modular fifteenth-century edifice known in English as Egg Castle, rose sheer from the water’s edge about a half mile distant. Clockwise through twenty-five degrees of arc that included the storied seaside neighborhood of Santa Lucia was Nuovo Castle, a more archetypal citadel with rounded, crenellated towers. And farther still to the right was the mile-long reach of the harbor’s principal pier, or mole as they called them along the Mediterranean seaboard. Seven other U.S. Navy destroyers were moored nearby, embedded in a larger contingent of the Allied fleet, preparing for the greatest invasion of the war thus far.

After the Allies had come ashore at Salerno four months earlier, the march on Rome had ground to a halt at the Germans’ Gustav Line near Monte Cassino, halfway between Salerno and Rome. The Germans commanded the high ground here above two valleys the Allies had not been able to punch through, and needed to, if they were to take Rome. Ever the man for military micromanagement, Winston Churchill concocted a scheme to do an end run around Cassino with an amphibious landing. In Naples, which the Allies had taken three weeks after the Salerno landings in September and whose port was funneling the American Fifth Army into the war on the Italian mainland, everyone knew an invasion was imminent—just how imminent no one could say. Every day more vessels crowded the harbor. They were on the verge of something.

Late that Sunday afternoon, Private Frank Gallagher stole away from his camp, without a pass, and made his way into Naples, half-filling a jerry can with Italian red wine along the way. They’d been telling everyone to stay out of Naples, the typhus was running rampant, but Frank figured “that was the shit.” At the harbor’s edge, he walked along the mole, scanning a panorama of ships for hull number 431.

A medic in the 36th Infantry Division of the Fifth Army, Frank had come into Italy from North Africa at Salerno, on a beach so hot German Panzer tanks had rumbled right down onto the sand in the midst of the American assault. The beachhead was tenuous for a week after the initial landing, prompting the Fifth Army’s commander, General Mark Clark, to think about evacuating back out to sea. If this next invasion was to be anything like Salerno, Frank wanted to see his brother John one more time.

On shore, no one Frank asked could tell him whether Plunkett was among the anchored vessels. At the Navy task force’s flagship—the “admiral’s ship,” Frank called it—he addressed one of the topside sailors, asking whether Plunkett was out there. It was in the area, he was told. There wasn’t any way out among the ships from the mole, so Frank walked the edge of the harbor until he came into the neighborhood of Santa Lucia, which inspired a song that Neapolitan immigrants carried to America in the late nineteenth century. The lyrics of the song invite a boatman to shove off in his boat to enjoy the cool of the evening. “Come into my nimble little boat,” the song goes. “Oh, how beautiful to be on the ship!” The boatman Frank encountered was offering no such palliative.

Instead, after coming down a stairway from the Santa Lucia promenade onto an ample stone terrace jutting into the water, Frank hopped into a little boat, a bumboat, tied to one of the terrace’s cleats, and told the boatman to row him out. The man protested, arguing back in Italian that was Greek to Frank.

“No,” Frank said, cutting him short. “Row out in the goddamned harbor.”

At a glance, Frank didn’t appear physically intimidating. He was of average height and build, his face square and no-nonsense. He was naturally abrupt, and skeptical, but ever alert for the possibility of a little fun. He’d been hauling off that can now and then, and he was already a little glorious with the wine this afternoon.

The Italian worked his oars, and the boat jerked from behind a crescent of breakwater stones and headed out among the moored Navy vessels. Frank directed the boatman to steer for the telltale profiles of two-stacked destroyers, casting about for the hull number that would identify the ship as the one he wanted. “And don’t you think I saw the Plunkett,” he said.

The destroyer was as long as a football field plus most of its end zones, big but by no means titanic. It had four boilers, two propellers, thirteen ship’s officers, plus seven additional squadron officers, and 265 sailors, including a twenty-seven-year-old water tender from Boston’s Dorchester neighborhood whose day job on the ship was in the aft fire room, but whose battle station at general quarters was on a 20mm machine gun, one of six on Plunkett.

The shanghaied Italian mariner brought his boat up to Plunkett’s accessibly low fantail, the deck just four-and-a-half feet above the waterline, and Frank hauled himself and his can up and aboard. “I should have been shot dead,” he said. “I had a can. It could have been a mine or anything.”

One of Plunkett’s sailors was onto him straightaway. “Where’d you come from?”

“That little guinea just rowed me out here,” Frank said, referencing the Italian as the Irish disparaged them back in Boston.

The sailor summoned Plunkett’s skipper, Eddie Burke, a thirty-six-year-old graduate of the U.S. Naval Academy, who’d grown up in a small town outside Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania, and who’d won acclaim as an All-American football player, and as a light heavyweight boxer. Six feet tall, and built like a linebacker still, with a broad, fleshy face and a gap between his front teeth, Burke looked like the kind of guy James Cagney would send for to do the heavy work.

As Burke laid into Frank on the fantail, a boatswain’s mate in the ship’s bridge piped a shrill whistle into the intercom, as he did every afternoon before sunset and before dawn, when German bombing attacks were most likely. In the wake of the whistle came the boatswain’s call: “General quarters, general quarters, all hands man your battle stations.” Then he activated a klaxon, and a harsh, electric whang throbbed from the ship’s speakers like the pulse of a magnificent metal beast.

No one on Plunkett dallied. No one played sluggish. They vaulted the eighteen-inch-high thresholds of the bulkheads between compartments below deck and scrambled up and down ladders with a facility honed over six months in combat. Men heading to forward positions streamed up the wider, starboard side of the ship; men heading aft moved portside. As the crew hustled to station that afternoon, Mount Vesuvius loomed over the bay, coughing up clouds of ash. A week earlier, lava had begun channeling down one of the volcano’s outflows for the first time in decades.

“They were all there, about two hundred and fifty sailors on the destroyer,” Frank said. “They were all up on the bridge and down. And I’m standing, little khakis, and my five-gallon can of wine, and [the skipper’s] blasting the shit out of me.”

This was always the moment in Frank’s story, the one that reverberates across the decades in shimmery sepia light, flickering through the imagination like a scene from one of those Movietone newsreels that played in cinemas before the coming of television, backed by trumpets and trombones and narration by journalist and broadcaster Lowell Thomas. The camera pans the armada of Navy ships, and the sailors at their battle stations, to pause on one soldier in khaki getting chewed out by the skipper. And then finally settles on another sailor, leaning over the skirt of his gun tub on the starboard side of the ship by the no. 2 stack, together with two of the men who worked on his gun, looking toward this scene playing out on the fantail. John J. Gallagher stared at this spectacle, as amused as any of his shipmates, and then all of a sudden he’s way more interested than any of them. “That looks like my brother. Jesus!”

He hopped out of the gun tub and approached Burke to confirm that, in fact, this wayward infantryman was his brother. Burke looked at the vaguely familiar water tender, whom he recognized as one of his machine gunners, and he did something he never did if we’re to read from how Burke handled men at captain’s mast when he revoked liberties and brought down court-martials. He went easy on Frank.

“Go down and bunk with your brother [until] we find out what we’re going to do with you.”



I might have been seven or eight when I first heard this story, and after that first time, I heard it repeatedly. In time, each of us, the children and grandchildren of all the Gallagher brothers and sisters, was capable of painting the broad brushstrokes of Frank’s story as eloquently as someone sat down before one of Ken Burns’s cameras. It was always lying to on the near horizon of any Gallagher family get-together, from the Fourth of July to Christmas when we all gathered in the stately Victorian the Gallaghers had moved into in 1919 and where an oil portrait of John in his dress blues hung from the parlor wall. In this anecdote, there was serendipity and pathos, and for each of us personally an inextricable link to the most cataclysmic event of the twentieth century. Each of us knew in a general way how the story ended, though none of us knew what had transpired through two years of the war or exactly what had happened at the end.

On the verge of a family holiday to Italy in 2016, I googled Plunkett and found a citation for Edward J. Burke, who’d received the Navy Cross for action on January 24, 1944. Another page on the web archived a handful of old photos of the Plunkett and listed a man’s name at the bottom for crew contact and reunion information. It hadn’t occurred to me that anyone from the Plunkett might still be living. In my family we’d printed the legend and failed to consider the existence of facts—facts that would prove to be the substance of a story more wrenching and imbued with more drama and sorrow than any of us could have imagined. That was all to be found out. In the meantime, I phoned Ted Mueller off that website. He was ninety-two years old and had organized the last several reunions of Plunkett sailors. They’d “disbanded” three or four years earlier, he told me, for the “World War Two guys are getting old.”

Ted sent me a roster from the last Plunkett reunion, in 2011, and I began to phone, somewhat frantically, cognizant of the clock. First, I checked the name of the man against the possibility of an obituary, more often than not finding one. Occasionally I’d get a voice on the other end of the line. I’d ask to speak to the name of the man on the roster, and my question would be as quickly countered by the flattened voice of a woman who wanted to know who was calling, having been down this road many times before with telemarketers. I’d tell her my name, and that I was a journalist, and that I was calling about the USS Plunkett. Everything changed with the invocation of that word, Plunkett, as I touched a chord that vibrated back decades and resonated with the signal experience of a life. There would be joy in her voice as she passed off the phone.

One Plunkett sailor didn’t let me get past the part about my being a journalist before he blurted, “And I’m on welfare!” There would be no money coming my way from him if that was why I was calling.

I rushed the rest of my introduction. “I’m calling about the USS Plunkett.”

Waves of silence rippled over my deployment of that word. “Oh,” he said, suddenly muffled. And then the words, almost sotto voce. “Yes, I was on the Plunkett.”

This was a thing that was holy within him, within them, and should never be associated with people who just wanted a few minutes of his time. We talked for twenty minutes, and he told me that when Plunkett was under attack they’d go at the enemy with the five-inch guns first, and then as the planes came closer, with the 40mm gun, and then if they got closer with 20mm guns, and then if they got closer with potatoes. “Potatoes?” I asked, and the old sailor just laughed.

I began to scrub histories of the war in Europe, looking for the destroyer, and found the ship all over the place, intersecting with the greatest events and personages of the war, like Forrest Gump. One of Plunkett’s crew put it to me this way: “We was everyplace, all the time.” I found the ship at Casablanca, at Gela in Sicily, at Salerno and Anzio in Italy, and then on Omaha Beach, so close to shore at the landings that she about scraped her hull in the sand. The ship had been in on every invasion in Europe. What happened to the ship at Anzio, where the Germans met the Allied invasion with twenty-five thousand men and hundreds of aircraft, was so “savage,” so harrowing, and so relentless the Navy wasn’t sure any other destroyer in Europe had been through what Plunkett had.

Somewhere else online, I found reference to the ship’s gunnery officer, Ken Brown, who’d been living in La Jolla as recently as 2009. I clicked into an obituary for a Ken Brown and read that this Ken Brown was the son of the Ken Brown I was looking for. His survivors included a sister named Karen Fratantaro of Costa Mesa, California, and there was only going to be one of her in Costa Mesa. A few clicks later, I had a phone number, and a few moments later, I was leaving a voice mail. The next morning, my phone rang, and I picked up on a woman who said, “Hello, Jim, I’m Karen Brown, and it so happens I’m with my father right now.”



It had taken my great-uncle Frank all of three-and-a-half minutes to tell the Naples reunion story in 1998 when I sat down with him and a tape recorder after my grandfather died and it had occurred to me that once a voice was silenced, it was liable to stay that way for good. Frank didn’t put any pressure on the set piece of his Naples story for any larger meaning about family or war, or why we remember things. And he never talked in any great detail about what happened afterward. His story rose to that one incredulous moment when he found himself on a Navy destroyer in the midst of the war, when “ornery” Captain Burke was “blasting the shit” out of him, and John recognized him. “That looks like my brother,” Frank would always say, quoting John. It was the darnedest thing.

Hours after boarding, while he and John and other men in the engineering department played cards on a bunk in their quarters below the fantail, the ship resounded with what Frank remembered as a red alert. The crew hurried into preparations to get underway, and it was now imperative to get this wayward soldier of the Fifth Army back to shore.

They all knew where they were going. They’d been talking about the destination at dinner parties in Naples. The Italian vendors on the shore were hawking postcards of the destination. And there was talk about what Nero had done there back in the day when Rome was burning.

Anzio. They were going to Anzio.






2: BOSTON

JANUARY 1942

Off Chelsea Street in Charlestown, Ken Brown passed through the gate of the Boston Navy Yard carrying an olive-drab sea-pack suitcase and high expectations. It was January 23, 1942, mid-afternoon, and warming temperatures had slushed the snow and made a mess of the shine on his Florsheims. Inside the gate, he passed the old Commandant’s House with its ample first-floor terrace and bulbous corners. Looming just beyond was the Bunker Hill Monument, a 221-foot obelisk of light gray granite, looking as much like a fixture from the future as a design out of old Egypt. Boston, this cradle of liberty, was an auspicious place to get underway.

Ken was twenty-one years old. His build was slim, the hair light and swept up off the forehead left to right. If you’d put him in knickers, he could have passed for a boy just up from adolescence, except for two contradictory details about the mouth—lips that were protuberant and somewhat soft, but a voice that seemed to issue from vocal cords lined with granite and suggested a man of twice the girth. In college, where they’d grouped his class in companies by height and where he rated placement among the shortest, they’d noted that his “stentorian bellows” could startle underclassmen who thought they might otherwise “ignore a harmless sandblower.”

The yard this Friday morning was as expectant as Ken, humming with a vigor as aggressive as the lead headline on that morning’s Boston Daily Globe—“M’Arthur Fights Horde.” The subhead was just as dramatic—“British in Malaya Smash at Japs as R.A.F. Rides Skies.” More than thirty-six thousand welders, shipfitters, pipefitters, machinists, electricians, shipwrights, and sundry helpers and laborers worked in the yard and its area annexes now, churning out destroyers at a pace that suggested tomorrow depended on getting it done today. In the shipyard’s dry dock, the USS Kearny idled in a clutch of wooden scaffolding, waiting on a boiler to replace the one they’d lost when a U-boat torpedoed them off Iceland, killing eleven crew—the first American troops killed by Germans in the war.

Past the joiner’s shop, Ken’s route led toward piers where soldiers manned anti-aircraft nests on the roofs of waterfront buildings. The seaside facades of the shops and foundries looked smart in a fresh coat of camouflage paint.

Ken had been in Boston a week already, working a staff job until his ship came in. Waiting for Plunkett to return from another convoy run to Iceland, the Navy had put him to work decoding transmissions with an aluminum strip. It was mind-numbing work, substituting an “a” for an “f” if that’s what the protocol wanted that day. He’d tried to shirk the duty with proposals to more effectively deploy his time, but his superior officer greeted Ken’s energetic appeals with more strips. The reprieve had come in that morning. He’d reported for duty and learned that Plunkett had arrived late the previous evening.

At Pier 6, he found the hull number he was looking for, 431, the ship tied up to the starboard side of another destroyer that looked just like it, the USS Knight. Ken walked across the Knight and over the short gangplank onto Plunkett at midship, as disappointed all of a sudden as a man on a blind date who cringes at the first glimpse of his prospect. Lines for water, steam, electricity, and telephone ran all over the ship like Gulliver under the Lilliputians. Yard workers combed the decks, each preoccupied by some urgent task that was either bound to right the vessel or scuttle it, he couldn’t say which. Hammers sounded all over, and the air was offensive with the smell of cutting torches as yard workers welded new equipment onto the ship. White-hatted sailors emerged from the vessel’s bowels, each shouldering crates of five-inch shells and powder, which they were transferring to a lighter that had tied up at Plunkett’s starboard. They’d have to reload all of this ammunition again when they got underway; in the meantime, the ship had to idle in the yard free of explosives. At a nearby pier, the wooden-hulled USS Constitution strained at its cleats, drawn back into active service the previous year after its first commissioning in 1797, this time not for battle but to serve as a brig for naval officers awaiting court-martial.

Stepping aboard Plunkett, Ken saluted the officer of the deck, who stood just opposite the gangway, and then headed for the wardroom, where the carpet was still soaked with seawater from the ship’s transatlantic crossing. There’d been cause for anticipation since he’d learned four days before graduation that he was bound for DD-431. Unlike older World War I–era destroyers, which creaked across the seas like antiques with their four stacks and unbroken “flush” decks, Plunkett was a recently minted marvel, with a raised forecastle to keep the forward guns dry in heavy seas, and modern appointments throughout, from its five-inch, .38-caliber gun battery to its commodious staterooms. It was named for a Navy man, as nearly all destroyers were, who’d chiseled himself into history during the First World War and then worked as gunnery officer on a cruiser and three different battleships. To the extent that destroyers acquire the characteristics of their namesake, as many believed, the fledgling Charley P. was bound to groom itself as brusque, unyielding, and unafraid to voice an unpopular opinion as Charles P. Plunkett. Ken appraised the miserable spectacle of the wardroom a moment, the magazine racks drooping with moist titles, the floors heaped with sodden boxes and other detritus. My God, he thought, did anyone ever think to clean this place?

On board, he met a classmate, Dale Reed, whose original assignment was for a ship now sunk in Pearl Harbor, and John Chapman Jolly, Plunkett’s gunnery officer, who’d come out of the Naval Academy—the trade school, as graduates frequently called it—in ’39. Jolly was from Philadelphia, and bore a nickname, Hap, that was inevitable but ironic, too, since his countenance trended in the other direction. His brow hunkered over his eyes in a way that made him look slightly worried about something trivial, a problem of addition or subtraction that might be easily resolved, except it never was so far as Hap was concerned.

They got down to business while unaccountable poundings and whirrings sounded all around them. Plunkett was a top-heavy vessel, and so had jettisoned one of its original five-inch gun mounts and replaced the metal top on one of the others with a lighter canvas awning, a ragtop. Making weight for a destroyer was a constant struggle, like a welterweight trying to stay on the good side of that 140-pound threshold. Hap assigned Reed to work as an assistant gunnery officer, and Ken to work as torpedo officer, deepening the twenty-one-year-old’s disappointment. First, there was this shambles of a ship, and now this second-rate job assignment. Even then, it was clear that torpedoes were a secondary priority on a destroyer, that most of the action was to emanate from the ship’s four five-inch guns, its 1.1-inch gun, and its six 20mm machine guns. Ken hadn’t grown up with guns, didn’t hunt as a kid or distinguish himself as a marksman in any way, but on the one training cruise he’d had at the Academy—the others canceled due to mobilization—he’d warmed up to the work he’d been assigned on the battleship Texas, manning a three-inch gun. It was thrilling and was where he wanted to be. Reed was only sojourning here, and yet he’d pulled the plum, while Ken would manage impotent tubes between the ship’s stacks. To add insult to injury, the ship’s executive officer also appointed him commissary officer and gave him a clipboard for checking off fifty-pound bags of potatoes as they were emptied into the spud locker. The gunnery officer sensed his disappointment and told him they needed their torpedo officer to be permanent. They wouldn’t want to train someone and then lose that person too soon.

The tidings weren’t all dismal that first day. As an officer, Ken merited relatively deluxe accommodation, though he’d have to share the space with a roommate, a reserve officer named Jack Simpson. Jack stood about Ken’s height and was born the same year, 1920, but he’d acquired the bearing of a more seasoned man. The early-onset baldness might have had something to do with Jack’s aura of maturity. His piercing blue eyes, as if in compensation, deflected attention from the balding, and he carried himself with a posture that was erect but more the prerogative of a young man on the make than military indoctrination. Still, the smile in his welcome was wholehearted, not at all like the groomed displays of trade school boys who were as apt to fix a picture-taker with a look as grim as their guns. Jack introduced himself with a grip as crushing as a CO’s. He was a Southerner, soft-spoken and well-spoken, and Ken liked him immediately.

Jack had grown up on a farm not far from Atlanta. After high school, he followed his father into the meat business, driving trucks by day and aspiring to something more with night classes. He’d enlisted in the Naval Reserves and did a pair of two-week summer cruises on a destroyer as a deckhand. As war loomed, the Navy invited young men with three years of college into a new officer’s training program, and Jack went for it, throttling a motorcycle from Atlanta to Chicago for training at Northwestern University. It was a grueling program. Thirteen candidates bunked in his room, and the inevitable bad luck preyed on six of them. Seven emerged as officers. Jack then went to communications school for three months before requesting assignment on a destroyer in the Pacific. Instead, they sent him to Boston, where he was on the day Pearl Harbor was bombed, watching the first hockey game he’d ever seen played as he waited for Plunkett to come in from its convoy. Now he was just back from his first trip across the North Atlantic, which was anything but pacific in January. The seas had been heavy and punishing; they hadn’t so much steamed home as bounced home.

In their stateroom, they bunked on thin mattresses, supported by springs and draped with a sheet and gray blanket. A wide expanse of lockers claimed all of the wall between the head of their bunks and the curve of the hull, with tiers of drawers and larger compartments above. The contents of Ken’s suitcase might claim half of one drawer. The rest of the storage was for the steady stream of paperwork produced by the ship’s yeomen. A desk wide enough for two men promised bureaucratic obligations, as did another tier of file cabinets. There was a stainless-steel sink in its own little alcove, with a mirrored medicine chest above. The toilet would be outside, and shared. They called the entirety of this space a stateroom, which sounded like a joke until you had a look at where the enlisted men bunked. A stateroom it was.

Ken learned a few things in the days right after he’d come aboard Plunkett. That his roommate exercised incessantly with wooden-handled contraptions that must have been responsible for that extraordinary grip. That they’d “pinged” a lot of fish with their sonar and no wolf packs of German U-boats on this most recent convoy across the Atlantic. That Plunkett’s junior officers called the ship’s executive officer “Goo Goo” behind his back and loathed the man’s approach. When men on liberty came back hung over, Goo Goo would direct them to the sick bay for a purgative of cascara and some other mineral, a laxative concoction they called a “black-and-white” and that sent men running for the head. Another time after they’d come into port following a particularly rough convoy, Goo Goo wouldn’t release the crew to liberty until they’d been buzzed by the ship’s barber. The pent-up crew’s frustration had almost tipped the ship into mutiny.

Of course, Goo Goo was acting on orders from the ship’s commanding officer, William Standley, a man of some stature, and not only because he was Plunkett’s CO. His father was an admiral who’d stepped up as chief of naval operations in the 1930s and was just then, in early 1942, in Moscow serving as U.S. ambassador. Standley was a fine ship handler. They’d learned that much about him over convoy runs that winter, but the crew didn’t sense he cared all that much about their welfare. He cared about advancement and playing it by the book. One evening soon after he’d come aboard, Standley called Ken to his quarters, and together they went through the torpedo manual page by page. Ken managed to keep a lid on his smart-aleck tendencies, and asked questions that Standley thought were solid. At least, that’s what one of the ship’s officers told Ken later: Standley had said he thought the Academy was doing a great job, getting these kids ready.

“He screwed up on that one,” Ken said.

As the ship was provisioning for its next run into the North Atlantic, Standley insisted that Ken, in his capacity as commissary officer, provide a complete accounting of all the ship’s stores. “I want you to inventory every can of peas down there,” he said.

In Plunkett’s storeroom, Ken started work on the assignment with his chief commissary man from the enlisted ranks, Pat Flanagan, who offered some early-on advice on how to handle peas.

“This is a case of peas,” Pat said, “and there are twenty-four cans in a case. There’s no point in taking each can out.”

Ken counted the cases, factored by twenty-four, for peas and everything else that came in bulk. Then he reported to Standley.

“Did you count every can?” Standley asked his new commissary officer.

Ken told him about the math.

“Go back, as I said, and count them,” Standley said.

This is stupid, Ken thought. He complied, came up with the same number of cans but learned, moreover, that junior officers could exercise only so much of their own initiative. This was a lesson he would have to relearn again and again.

Standley’s subordinates didn’t think much of another one of the CO’s prerogatives: the correspondence course. He had all of them taking a class by mail, and if they didn’t get their homework in on time, he’d restrict them to the ship. Shortly after he came aboard, Ken signed up for a lesson.



It was a correspondence course that was point A on a continuum that put Ken Brown on Plunkett at point Z. The summer before his senior year in high school, his father had coupled himself to the notion that his son ought to attend the U.S. Naval Academy at Annapolis. William G. Brown was a typewriter salesman with accounts all over Chicago, and if he thought you needed a typewriter, by golly, you were going to own a typewriter because he was going to stay on you till you purchased one. He cultivated business from the stockyards to Wilson Sporting Goods to Army and Navy offices, and Ken suspected it was there, among the uniformed men who bought his Royal typewriters, that the idea had hatched. The elder Brown enrolled his son in a correspondence course to prepare for an entrance exam, and then began working political connections in Chicago to lobby for an appointment. “I don’t know what really started him on it, or what got him into this feverish state. But I knew my dad’s ambition, he was a nut for it, and I was going along for the ride.”

Through the late winter and early spring of 1938, they waited on word from Annapolis, a decision that would have profound consequences for Ken’s life and seemed at the same time to be the end of all his father’s striving, indeed the very purpose to which his father had been put on Earth. When the word came, Ken had been out to the horse races in Elgin, Illinois, in defiance of his father’s prohibition against the racetrack. A cop stopped him as he motored back to Glen Ellyn, and told him to get home, his father was looking for him. Then, when he stopped at Wally Catlin’s service station for gas, Wally told him to get home, his father was looking for him. And then, when he got home, his mother and father were standing in the driveway, back by the great stone chimney. He’d never forget the image of the pair of them standing there, his mother in a simple housedress, her deep-set eyes, his father as irrepressible as ever: The man had actually broadcast an alarm across Glen Ellyn that day for Ken to come home. He could not be put down. They were clearly not upset about Elgin—he read that in a glance as he braked the ’36 Ford convertible coupe his father had got for him—but they were there as if chased from the inside of the house by something, and there was nothing for them to do but stand there, side by side, a nineteenth-century couple on the verge of sixty. His dad was holding something, pinched between a thumb and curled forefingers. It was then that he knew. This was the letter, this was why the urgency, this was why the call into the police station, the calls all around town. The need to know. His dad wouldn’t be kept waiting, not on this. It was unopened when they handed it to him, and a fleeting thought ran through his mind: Should he upend expectation, thank them for the letter, and walk into the house? But no, this was his dad, and she was his mom, and sometimes it seemed their entire lives had boiled down to the contents of this envelope. It was a warm spring day. Daladier had just become prime minister of France and appointed a man who favored appeasement. Britain had just signed an agreement that recognized Italy’s control of Ethiopia. And Gary Cooper was in a new one down at the Glen’s cinema, The Adventures of Marco Polo. What an ordeal this had been, and now it would be over, one way or the other. He opened the letter from Annapolis, and read the text, careful to let nothing show in his face. He was still a kid. He could still shrug up his shoulders for a picture. He could still twist a joke out of thin air if need be. You grew up gradually, not suddenly. But a chapter was coming to a close as he stood there on a cinder driveway in Glen Ellyn on a warm spring day in April of 1938. He looked up at his mom and then his dad. “Well, I got a two-point-five on both of my substantiating exams and I am in,” he told them.



Ken set up at the U.S. Naval Academy in Annapolis as a man on the lookout for a good meal and a midshipman who knew how to joke. He had a “capacity for being happy” and people liked him for it. He played some baseball, and wrestled, too, not varsity but at the intramural level. He worked on the school’s magazine, Trident, for two years and was on the Stunt Committee that fall. He’d had a terrifically fun run at the Academy, harvesting as much as could be had in the regiment, though he couldn’t quite understand, when he took the time to think about it, why he flirted so frequently with disaster, with the drinking especially.

Ken was in the middle of a burger in downtown Annapolis when he got word that Pearl Harbor had been bombed. The news exerted a magnetic compulsion on midshipmen all over town, each of them returning to the grounds of the Academy to sort the ramifications and confront still more changes to the run of their year. At the Academy, over the building’s loudspeakers, the executive officer of Bancroft Hall, where the midshipmen lived, briefed the nascent naval officers on the attack. The consequences set in at once. For starters, the dance that was to be held that evening in Bancroft, with a slew of dates or “drags” coming in from Baltimore, was canceled. The Academy assumed a more vigilant atmosphere. Midshipmen would stand watch with pistols all over the campus, and the enlisted men at the gates would grill everyone seeking access to the grounds. Graduation, which had already been moved up from June of 1942 to February, crept closer, the ceremony now scheduled for December 19.

Of the 547 midshipmen who filed into Dahlgren Hall for graduation that day, nearly 500 of them would be commissioned as ensigns in the Navy and 24 would step up as second lieutenants in the Marine Corps. Twenty-five of the new officers would stay on at the Academy for four months to train men coming into the Navy Reserves. Others were headed to engineering school, and into naval aviation programs, and many more were headed for ships. Several had been scheduled for duty on the USS Arizona, now sunk in Pearl Harbor, and had to be reassigned.

As Ken took his seat in the vastness of Dahlgren Hall, resplendent in his dress blues and embraced on all sides by a crowd that included his father and brother, he understood now that much of the action in the war would flare first in the Pacific, not the Atlantic. When he’d identified his preference for a ship and a sea six months earlier, he’d put in for a destroyer in the Atlantic because wolf packs were decimating merchant shipping in a period of pickings so easy that German U-boat commanders referred to their success as the “Happy Time.” He’d wanted on a destroyer because he figured assignment on a tin can might be less fraught with pomp, circumstance, and regulation. The latter might be true, but the former, it now seemed, most definitely was not.

Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox stood before the ranks of serried midshipmen, fresh from a trip to assess the damage at Pearl Harbor. Eight days earlier, Adolf Hitler had referenced the secretary by name in Germany’s declaration of war against the United States, noting that Knox himself had confirmed that three American destroyers, the Greer, the Kearny, and the Reuben James, had attacked German submarines. Knox was in his mid-sixties, a onetime Rough Rider with Teddy Roosevelt, a former newspaperman, and a Republican candidate for the vice presidency in 1936. As he’d confirmed a few matters of fact for Hitler, he now confirmed for Ken that he was nevertheless at the red-hot center of the world’s attention. “Millions of young men would like to be in your place.… You enter on this greatest war the world has ever seen—trained,” Knox said.

He talked about Japanese treachery at Pearl Harbor, how we ought to have been on guard against it, and how there was at least one great lesson to be learned from the assault—“that one of the greatest and most effective factors in war is the element of surprise.” Knox was heartened by the allies at America’s side, from the British Commonwealth to Russia, by the might of America’s technology and industry, and by the “gallant courage and a complete disregard of personal danger” exhibited by the men at Pearl Harbor.

The midshipmen trooped up to the stage, one by one by company, to receive their commissions from Knox. When midshipman Issac Kidd stepped up to the stage, the entire regiment stiffened. Ken watched as an aide whispered something to Secretary Knox. The photographers leapt for a better vantage and their bulbs flashed as Ken joined the regiment in a thunderous cheer for Kidd, whose father, Admiral Kidd, had been killed on the Arizona at Pearl Harbor. When it was over, Ken drove back to Glen Ellyn with his father and brother, his commission in hand and orders for Boston after the holidays for duty aboard the USS Plunkett.



Shortly after the news about Pearl Harbor broke across Boston, John Gallagher and his friends huddled at Costello & Kelly’s, a barroom in Field’s Corner that admitted mixed company and was, for Gallagher, a complement to Callahan’s, a men’s only tavern closer to home on Adams Street. He met Franny Driscoll, George Hurley, Welchie, Hack, and a few others from the “corner,” as they referred to the stomping ground that bound them. At Costello’s, they could eat rotisserie chicken and barbecue, and drink the likes of Pickwick Ale and Schaefer Beer, which, according to the advertising jingle, was the one to have when you were having more than one. By the time that afternoon was over, at least three of them had decided to enlist in the Navy. At midnight, they trooped into the Federal Building at Post Office Square downtown, which opened early to accommodate the deluge of young men who wanted a “crack at the Japs,” as the papers put it. John, Franny, and George told the Navy they could be ready to go by six-thirty that morning, but the Navy said they could take a few days at home.

That Monday morning, shortly after six-thirty, a photographer showed up on the same floor of the Federal Building and snapped the most famous recruitment picture to make the rounds after Pearl Harbor. In it, a dozen would-be sailors form a line before a man in a suit holding a sheaf of papers in his left hand. A U.S Navy sign hangs from a bracket mounted to a doorframe. Four of the recruits look like boys. Several wear leather jackets, with hair clearly held in place by something like Brylcreem. One man clutches his fedora, and three still wear them. They’re listening intently to instructions, sensitive to the need for gravitas on this day, while a photographer readies an image. You have to wonder how the whole thing played out for these men in particular—the kid with the inflated chest, another who might have been Armenian, and one who bears more than a passing resemblance to the actor John Cusack. The caption doesn’t identify them, and the picture, like so many of these poignant images from our past, seems more an imagination of history than an actual assemblage of men who went on to serve in the war, some of whom may not have survived, some of whom probably did and went on to have families that may or may not know that their father or uncle is part of how we today visualize the fervor that gripped the nation the day after Pearl Harbor.

Until Pearl Harbor, John had been working as a presser in the Baker Chocolate Factory in Lower Mills, earning $20 per week, which was somewhat better than his brother Charlie’s work as a clerk at wholesale clothier R. H. White’s, than Tom’s work as a clerk on a steamship line, and only slightly better than his sister Gert’s work as a telephone operator. Martha Gallagher still had all her kids at home, from Helen at thirty-one years of age and Tom at twenty-nine, all the way down to Joe at twenty. It was as if losing her husband, Tom, to tuberculosis in 1924 had endowed her with even greater gravity, her children reluctant to break from that orbit. Indeed, neither of her two oldest children would ever leave the house on Oakton Avenue, and it was assumed their reluctance to leave was a matter of fidelity to a woman who’d “taken a shock,” as it was always said of her stroke, and who needed them at home.

Three days after his first trip to the Federal Building, John was back at the recruiting station, enlisting, filling out an application in which he revealed he’d quit school after finishing the eighth grade; that he did not drink intoxicating liquors (a lie); and that he’d been arrested once for fighting and served two years’ probation. He answered no to myriad general health questions they wanted answered, among others whether he’d urinated in bed in the last five years, whether he’d ever worn arch supporters, and whether there was any insanity in his family. He hadn’t, and there wasn’t. He signed his own name John James Gallagher, all three words, and then signed his mother’s name, though he didn’t have to—he was twenty-four years old—and crossed it out.

In the physical exam that followed, the Navy learned he was 5' 7" and 145 pounds. He had dark brown hair, a ruddy complexion, blue eyes, 20/20 vision, and a scar on the left side of his forehead from when his brother Charlie encouraged him to coast down the kitchen stairway on a tin baking sheet when he was five years old.

Six days after that exam, the Navy signed off on his two-year enlistment in the Reserves as an apprentice seaman at $21 per month. He swore an oath before a retired lieutenant commander, and they sent him to a training station in Newport, Rhode Island, sixty-five miles south of his home on Oakton Avenue. In Newport, they gave him a short haircut and issued him a uniform, dungarees, sea bags, and a thin mattress. “All of a sudden, we all looked alike—with crew cuts and dressed in ill-fitting uniforms,” wrote a neighbor from Dorchester, Joseph A. Donahue, who was at Newport with John. They told the recruits they’d have no need of personal clothes and sent those clothes home.

They drilled outside, hup, two, three, four, and fumbled with rifles in cloth gloves. They learned how to pack clothes in a white sea bag, and how to bundle up mattress and hammock. It was winter, but this was the Navy, and they had to pass a swimming test that sent them two lengths of a large indoor pool.

There were more physical exams in Newport, where they found that John was missing eight teeth, all molars and “non-vital.” They inoculated him against cowpox, typhoid, yellow fever, and tetanus, and found that he had a deviated septum. The Navy awarded him a $118.95 uniform gratuity, and on January 7, after three weeks in Newport, he got his orders for Plunkett. Nearly all the seamen from Newport were dispatched into the Atlantic Fleet.

First, though, he got to go home to the modest Victorian house they’d moved into shortly before his father contracted tuberculosis. It had been twenty years since Tom Gallagher had returned home from a yearlong sojourn in Saranac, where he’d hoped the open-air “cure porches” of the famed treatment center might invigorate his lungs and undo the disease. They did not. Tom struggled another year against the disease, and then it took him at the age of forty-two when he was in the prime of his family life and his professional life as a broker for Charles Storrow & Company. Such was the esteem they felt for Tom at the cotton and wool brokerage on State Street, that Storrow continued to funnel money to Martha Gallagher so she could keep that home. That, and the odd property tax abatement from Mayor James Michael Curley, allowed the Gallaghers to live in a home burnished with ornate interior woodwork, chandeliers, and oriental carpets.

Home from training, John stood for a photograph in the dining room, puffed up before the oak mantelpiece in his dress blue uniform with one stripe around the cuffs. In the picture his hair is buzzed short in a boot haircut, shorter than it is in any other photograph taken during the war. His right arm is propped on the mantel, and he’s looking at the photographer with his chin slightly uplifted and with a grin that might have mirrored the photographer’s, each of them somewhat abashed by the artifice of this uniform. Who’s he to be wearing that! There are thin, unlit birch logs stacked in the fireplace, and a picture hangs on the wall, of a teenage John in a tie and a sweater, standing astride his beloved German shepherd Rex. The prominence of the photo suggests that it went up after he went to Newport, for this was mostly how the Gallaghers would see him over the next two years.



The morning after Ken Brown reported for duty, forty-three apprentice seamen bussed into the Navy Yard from the receiving station in downtown Boston. It was a warm afternoon for January, with temperatures cresting fifty degrees. A headline on that day’s edition of the Boston Daily Globe blared “Japs Close on Australia,” while the type just below reported the “US Holds in Philippines.” Ernie Pyle had filed a column from Tacoma, Washington, that ran in that morning’s edition. Ernie hadn’t put on his steel helmet yet. The soon-to-be-legendary war correspondent was reporting from the home front, complaining about how much it now cost to eat bacon and eggs for breakfast. What had been 35 cents was now $1.40. “If they don’t get me in the February draft, I think I shall go into the bacon and egg business for the duration,” he complained.

At noon on the ship’s bridge, Jack Simpson relieved Ensign Jack Collingwood from Washington State as officer of the deck and met the recruits with a yeoman and his clipboard. On they came, the ship moored as before that afternoon, a roll call of names scooped from a cross section of America’s ethnic porridge—Jews, Irish, Italians, Germans, Poles, and English, the yeoman scribbling them all down before he’d type them up for the ship’s deck logs later. There was Bill Alverson from Little Rock and Tom Garner from Camden, New Jersey, and Irvin Gebhart from Hockessin, Delaware, though his first name was mistyped as Twing. Not that it mattered; everyone would come to know Irvin as Dutch. There was Vitold Zakrzewski from South Boston, whose name had also been misspelled. No one ever worked at trying to get Zakrzewski spelled right or pronounced properly; they just called him Ski. On they came, forty-three men in all, including Gallagher. It was January 24, 1942, as they came aboard, two years to the day and almost to the minute before the klaxon would yank them to battle stations for the sixth time that day off the Italian coast at Anzio—Dutchie to the after engine room, Ski to the ship’s forward engine room, and Alverson, Garner, and Gallagher to gun tubs on the starboard side of the ship.

All of these names and eighty others were signed on the back of a ship’s picture that hung in the house on Oakton Avenue for decades after the war was over. They were listed, too, in that roster Ted Mueller sent me, though most of the men, he’d told me, had passed on. Still, there was one man Ted knew, who’d been on the ship at Anzio. That man lived in Missouri. He’d lost his wife recently, but he was still sharp. His name was Jim Feltz. “He might talk to you,” Ted told me.

I phoned Jim Feltz on his cell phone the next day, a Saturday, and caught him at a “home show,” which was just great, this ninety-one-year-old man out shopping for material, as if being in his tenth decade was no deterrent to yet another renovation of his kitchen. His voice was old man rickety, yet steady, and he habitually concluded his sentences with a sound like “mmm” that seemed to provide a more decisive end to what he’d just said than mere stoppage of talk. After talking several minutes about my interest in his ship, I told him I’d had a relative on the Plunkett. Though it had been years since I’d worked as a journalist, I told him I was looking into this story about the Plunkett from a professional point of view. He was happy to hear that somebody was interested in the Plunkett, and he did want to talk to me, but could I call him back tomorrow on his home phone? I told him I would, and then thought to give him one more piece of information.

“Just so you know, my great-uncle’s name, it was John Gallagher,” I said.

There was silence on the other end of the phone, and I was hoping against hope he’d remember John as one of the 265 enlisted men on the ship. I sensed he was casting about in his memory, or perhaps summoning an explanation so as not to disappoint. The silence went on and on, and I thought for a moment the call had dropped, but it hadn’t dropped, and Jim Feltz came back to me then with a smile in his voice as big as the moon. “Johnny Gallagher was a very good buddy of mine,” he said.






3: UNDERWAY

MARCH 1940

Eleanora Plunkett expected more from that first swing, however tentative, but the bottle of champagne in her hand wouldn’t give. She glanced at the assembled dignitaries and swung the bottle once more against the steel hull of a new Gleaves-class destroyer that was being named for her late husband. She wore a fur stole against the March chill, a feathered hat, and a tight-fitting jacket that showed off a figure that might still be described as hourglass, no matter her seventy-five years. But the bottle still wouldn’t break, and now there was a question about whether she had it in her. What would her husband make of this? Charles P. Plunkett, had he not succumbed to heart disease nine years earlier, would have been seventy-six years old this day. He’d been appointed to the Naval Academy as a fifteen-year-old, and later commanded destroyers, an armored cruiser, and a battleship. In the summer of 1918, with war grinding away in the trenches, Plunkett realized his finest hour when he commanded a battery of five fourteen-inch naval guns on railroad carriages at Saint-Nazaire in France. With those naval guns raining fourteen-hundred-pound projectiles down on the German trenches, there was nothing for the Kaiser to do but surrender or sign an armistice, according to General John J. Pershing, who was the commander of American troops in Europe during World War I. It would be a stretch to argue that Charles Plunkett ended the Great War, but he’d played a critical hand, and for this he was getting a destroyer. They’d gathered this March 9, 1940, on the edge of the Hackensack River in New Jersey, at the Federal Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company in Kearny. Two destroyers were to be launched, Plunkett (DD-431) and the coincidentally named Kearny (DD-432). Eleanora relished the honor. She was Plunkett’s third wife—he’d been previously married to a pair of sisters, one after the other’s death—and he was her second husband, but such was the esteem she felt for Charles that she would decide two years later to be buried with him at Arlington.

A heady breeze blew the pennants off Plunkett’s bridge, and people stood on the bow of the ship, forty feet above, leaning over for a look at the hapless widow’s third attempt, which was successful. The bottle burst, the crowd cheered, and Plunkett slid down the ways into the river. The government had spent $5 million building this ship, which was about five thousand times as much as the typical American family earned in a year. By contrast, an Arleigh Burke–class destroyer built in the twenty-first century cost fifty thousand times as much as the typical twenty-first-century American family earned in a year. Plunkett carried 431 as its hull number, which meant this was the 431st destroyer commissioned by the Navy since they’d started building this type of ship at the turn of the century. It was 348 feet from bow to stern, and 36 feet wide at the beam. Without its crew and provisions, Plunkett’s hull displaced 1,650 tons of seawater, and measured a draft of 11 feet from the waterline to the bottom of the keel, leaving as little as possible to the ambitions of a torpedo. Propelled by six steam turbine engines that turned two propellers, or screws, the ship was capable of thirty-seven knots at maximum speed, what the Navy called flank speed. In a speed trial the previous year, another destroyer of the same class had throttled off flank speed and was brought to a complete standstill in fifty-eight seconds. Popular Science magazine gushed about the possibilities of this new class of destroyers, calling them “the light cavalry of the sea,” and would feature a cartoon rendition of Plunkett on its March 1941 cover, the colorfully tricked out ship plowing a V through the sea at the vanguard of a destroyer squadron.

Over the next four months, Plunkett’s maiden crew ran the ship through a series of sea trials, testing its speed and maneuverability to ensure the ship performed the way it was supposed to. In the middle of July, Plunkett steamed out of the Kearny yard for the last time and moved to a berth in the Brooklyn Navy Yard. The following morning, 170 members of the crew, who would become known as plank owners since they were with the ship when it was put into active service, and five officers stood in formation on the ship’s fantail for the commissioning. The ship’s first commander, a Butte, Montana, native named Peter G. Hale, had come up from Annapolis and read orders from the Navy Department, directing him to take command. And then, at last, the commandant of the yard congratulated the crew, “urged them to maintain the traditions of the Navy,” and put Plunkett in service.



The destroyer is the quintessential ship of the American imagination. In the lore of the U.S. Navy, and as a manifestation of America’s appreciation for the scrappy Revolutionary underdog, no ship embodies the founding ethos of the country the way the destroyer does. There are more imposing ships, more effectively lethal ships, and ships that require greater courage to get underway, but none are quite as romantic or compelling. The destroyer is the minuteman behind the stone wall, the grunt on point in the jungle, that one otherwise unassuming kid who’s going to upset expectation and charge into harm’s way because someone has to do it. John Paul Jones, father of the U.S. Navy, anticipated the destroyer in the 1770s when it was said he boomed a phrase that echoes still today: Give me a fast ship for I intend to go in harm’s way. Jones’s phrase wasn’t quite that pithy, nor a thing uttered, but a desire he spelled out in a letter while shopping for a frigate in France where he “wished to have no connections with any ships that do not sail fast, as I intend to go in harm’s way.” The Second World War’s most colorful naval hero, Fleet Admiral William “Bull” Halsey, considered himself a “destroyer-man” at heart. No other ship endeared itself to its crew in quite the same way. Nobody fancied himself a cruiser-man or battleship-man. At the end of the war with Japan, when Halsey sent his ships into Tokyo Bay to accept the surrender, he put three destroyers at the head of his column, a gesture not unlike the one General U. S. Grant afforded Joshua Lawrence Chamberlain, the hero of Little Round Top, in the stillness at Appomattox.

World War II destroyers didn’t do one thing, they seemed to do everything. They went after battleships with torpedoes, at submarines with depth charges, at aircraft and coastal targets with an array of guns that fired projectiles as small as 20mm and as heavy as 52 pounds. “They came on tall and thin, like the cutting edge of a knife seen from ahead,” wrote Wirt Williams, a destroyer officer during the war. They rushed “into battle like terriers attacking Great Danes,” according to Theodore Roscoe, who in the early 1950s compiled an exhilarating survey of destroyer operations during World War II. The spirited herd dog is frequently invoked when talking about destroyers, especially when picturing the ship on convoy duty, “running breathlessly and tongue-lolling around her flock, shooing stragglers into line.” They were sometimes called “small boys” for their relatively diminutive size (a battleship’s displacement was fifteen to twenty times greater than a destroyer’s), but mostly they were called cans, tin cans, for the three-eighths-of-an-inch thickness of their steel hull. They were built light to go fast. The hull of a battleship was more than a foot thick and designed to weather a toe-to-toe slugfest in surface combat. Destroyers didn’t brawl that way. They screened bigger ships like the Secret Service, constantly on the lookout for hidden hazards, poised to spring. They patrolled the edges of convoys as the first line of defense against enemy submarines. And though they’d first come into the fleet at the turn of the century as a delivery platform for torpedoes, the advent of aerial warfare during the First World War reoriented their mission. Plunkett wouldn’t fire a single torpedo during World War II but was relentlessly under enemy assault from the air.

On the day Japan officially surrendered, September 2, 1945, there were thirteen times as many destroyers in service as aircraft carriers, sixteen destroyers for every battleship, and three destroyers for every two submarines. Five hundred fourteen destroyers steamed into the Second World War, and seventy-one were lost. No family of ship suffered as many casualties. They gave as good as they got. Better. They sunk more than one hundred Axis subs and as many surface ships; they brought down an untallied number of planes, and who knows how many auxiliary craft, trucks, troops, and transports on shore. The enemy dreaded them, enemy submariners especially, for it was the destroyer and its somewhat slighter sibling, the destroyer escort, that hunted submarines. The last thing a submariner wanted to see in the viewfinder of his periscope was a destroyer, plowing a great wide white V straight at him. The name of the ship made no bones concerning what it was about. A destroyer was built to wreck things.



Historians trace the genesis of the destroyer to action on the Roanoke River in 1864, and to a desire by Union and Confederate navies to punch their opponents below the waterline. In the fall of that year, a twenty-one-year-old lieutenant with the Union Navy guided a shallow-draft, steam-powered picket boat upriver with a torpedo rigged to a long spar or boom protruding from the bow. Under the cover of dark and rain, the lieutenant, six fellow officers, and a crew of eight lowered the boom and drove their torpedo into the Albemarle, wrecking the new Confederate ironclad. Around the same time, the Confederates dispatched another new kind of craft, this one hand-cranked and submersible but rigged with the same menace, a thirty-foot spar tipped with explosives. This one rammed a Union frigate, sinking her, as well as itself. From this primary purpose, each evolved, like Neanderthals and Homo sapiens, each to its own look and feel, the destroyer and the submarine.

What the Navy learned in the wreck of the Albemarle was that David could be very effective against Goliath. For twenty-five years after the Civil War, the so-called torpedo boat came to the fore bigger and faster but with that same awkward proboscis for ramming enemy craft. The Austrians and the British developed self-guiding, mobile torpedoes that could be launched from tubes in the 1870s, but it wasn’t until 1890 that congressional allocations allowed the Navy to field ships equipped with the same technology. The United States would commission thirty-five of these destroyers between 1890 and 1898, mostly for coastal defense. As a hedge against the torpedo boat, navies around the world started fielding torpedo boat destroyers in the 1890s. These boats carried torpedoes, as well as a battery of guns that might take out a torpedo boat from a distance. As defenders of the fleet, these destroyers, as they were soon to become known, were built bigger and faster and capable of passage on high seas. Congress called for sixteen destroyers in this first class of 1898. The following year, with the keel laid for the first of its kind, the destroyer type was officially born with Torpedo-Boat Destroyer No. 1, the USS Bainbridge.

These turn-of-the-century destroyers displaced 420 tons. Their top speed was 29 knots, and they could travel 2,700 nautical miles at 8 knots. They burned coal, not oil, which meant they couldn’t refuel at sea. They could be built for less than a million dollars each, and mostly they hugged the coast as a defensive shield. But their function was evolving, from ships that defended the coast to ships that defended the fleet. A 1910 Navy memorandum made it official: “Destroyers exist to protect the armored fleet from attack.”

With this redevelopment of purpose came the need for a change in design. At first, the Navy wanted a single destroyer for every battleship. Now the Navy was looking for four destroyers for every battleship. These ships had to be able to travel four thousand nautical miles, which prompted the switch from coal to oil. They built up the bow to keep the ship dryer and put some flare in the bow to increase the deck space and berthing below. Until the First World War, the Navy launched these ships in modest numbers, a handful here of this class, a handful there of another. The War College said in 1912 that the torpedo was “the only useful destroyer weapon.” World War I would change that.

In 1914, a German U-boat sunk a British naval ship with a so-called automotive torpedo, the first time that ever happened. Surface ships combatted this submarine threat with hydrophones that could listen for underwater movement, and depth charges, which were rolled off racks at the stern of a ship and would in time be “thrown” by Y guns or K guns in proximity of a sub. That same year, pilots started dropping bombs over the sides of their cockpits, and the era of the bomber was born. Strategic bombing evolved quickly during the war, and in response, the Navy started installing anti-aircraft gunnery to counter threats from above. In just a few short years, the destroyer’s mission evolved from a combatant in a single dimension to one that was fighting antagonists on the sea, below the sea, and above the sea. The destroyer tripled in size, and Congress authorized the construction of more than two hundred ships known as “four-pipers” for their four smokestacks and “flush deckers” for their unbroken decks running from stem to stern.

Until 1920, the Navy spelled out a ship’s type designation all the way—Destroyer Tender No. 1, for example—but then they shortened the designation with a classification symbol, DD, the first D for destroyer and the second D a repeat of the first because the ship didn’t have a subclassification. Prior to this abbreviation, the Navy had begun in 1909 to identify all commissioned ships as USS for United States Ship. A ship didn’t earn that badge until its commissioning and lost that designation as soon as it went out of commission.

The United States went on a shipbuilding spree during the First World War, putting 242 ships in harm’s way by the cessation of hostilities. With the Armistice, and hopes that the war to end all wars had just been fought, the Navy discharged 83 percent of its personnel, and put much of its destroyer fleet in mothballs. A treaty between the major world powers in 1922 put limits on the size and composition of their navies. Another treaty in 1930 capped the size of a destroyer at 1,850 tons. Throughout the 1930s, the archetypal U.S. destroyer took shape. The Navy designed one class with eight torpedo tubes, some with as many as sixteen. They mounted four or five five-inch guns on the centerline. In 1938 at Bath Iron Works in Bath, Maine, they built four destroyers of a new class, the Gleaves class, which was named for the first ship of the class to be launched. A curious thing happened along the way to Bath. The destroyer had become, quite simply and perhaps accidentally, a beautiful vessel—long, lithe, and exquisitely proportioned, as if nautical architecture had realized its apogee in this type of ship. After Bath built the first four, the next two ships of the Gleaves class were Plunkett and Kearny.



Now, about the men. In June of 1940, President Roosevelt characterized America’s young men as “mollycoddled,” despite the Depression and what that may have forged in the mettle of the country’s youth. Around the same time, an Army general told a reporter that he became depressed when he thought of the men stepping up to fight. “I’m afraid the Americans of this generation are not the same kind of Americans who fought the last war.” Such reservations were nothing new. Since the time of the Iliad, when Nestor berated Achilles and Agamemnon as less worthy fighters than those of the previous generation, the grass was always greener back in the day. While some American leaders didn’t think they had the kind of men necessary to fight the war, many Americans across the country didn’t want any part of any war any way. The America First Committee agitated against involvement all the way to Pearl Harbor, no matter the Japanese depredations in the Pacific, no matter the myriad invasions by Nazi Germany. Roosevelt’s antagonists considered him a warmonger and sought to thwart executive steps toward the country’s entry in another European war.

England, meanwhile, was sinking. They’d salvaged their army from Dunkirk in June of 1940. The Battle of Britain erupted the following month. And then in September came the Blitz, a series of nighttime bombing raids that, many believed, was the prelude to an invasion. The Germans had wrecked half of Britain’s destroyer fleet at Dunkirk, and damaged eleven more destroyers in July. The Brits had asked Roosevelt for fifty U.S. destroyers in May, and Roosevelt was rummaging about for a legal way to satisfy the request. The vigilant isolationists would be up in arms by any extension of arms to Britain, necessitating a game plan for Roosevelt that would preclude the inevitable protest. Meanwhile, Germany was preparing for an assault on England by mustering tens of thousands of troops on the coast of Northern France. Their convoys moved with impunity through the English Channel. Authorizing the transfer of those fifty destroyers, Churchill wrote to the president, was “a thing to do now.” Roosevelt found rationale for the transfer in an executive order that would swap the destroyers for British bases in Newfoundland and the Caribbean—bases that, ostensibly, would serve as a greater resource to America’s defense than fifty old four-pipers. And so, on September 9, 1940, Roosevelt did that thing, and the destroyers headed for Britain.

A week later Congress voted to enact the first peacetime conscription in American history. The snowball was underway. In November, Roosevelt was elected to an unprecedented third term as president, and Britain was at the end of its financial rope. “Even if we divested ourselves of all our gold and foreign assets, we could not pay for half we had ordered, and the extension of the war made it necessary for us to have ten times as much,” Churchill wrote, describing Britain’s predicament that fall. In the same way that a neighbor would lend his garden hose to help put out a fire at the property next door, Roosevelt proposed helping Britain by lending and leasing materiel that would, at the same time, help the Brits win the war and forestall the need for America to send troops. Debate on the matter raged for weeks. Senator Robert Taft said Lend-Lease would lead to “a kind of undeclared war all over the world.” Charles Lindbergh said it was “another step closer to war.” But Roosevelt’s Republican opponent in the recent election, Wendell Wilkie, argued for Lend-Lease. Churchill declared that with Lend-Lease, Britain would not “need the gallant armies which are forming throughout the American Union.” And Congress was won. The bill passed with overwhelming margins in both the House and the Senate, and Roosevelt signed the measure into law on March 11, 1941.

In The Winds of War, Herman Wouk’s magisterial fictional treatment of World War II, published in 1971, a naval officer frustrated by one dry-land bureaucratic assignment after another is finally released by Roosevelt for sea duty on the first Lend-Lease convoy to England in March of 1941. Though Lend-Lease was now law, and the United States might legally supply Britain with war materiel, the isolationists still objected to participation by the Navy in any convoy. “Convoys mean war—a shooting, bloody war,” cried America First in one of its pamphlets. This first Lend-Lease convoy wasn’t officially a so-called convoy. Wouk’s admiral tells the frustrated naval officer Pug Henry that he and his squadron of destroyers are to form up “screens on cooperative merchant vessels which you may encounter.” It just so happens that Henry and his destroyers encounter such a screen of merchant vessels off Newfoundland. Pug Henry is keen to be back on the water. “Even in the North Atlantic in March, even in a destroyer, even on such risky and peculiar business, going back to sea was a tonic. Pug paced the bridge of the U.S.S. Plunkett all day, a happy man, and slept in the sea cabin by the chart house.”

Pug Henry spent most of his time on this fictionalized Plunkett monitoring the performance of fifteen destroyers screening seventy-one merchant ships as they zigzagged toward a rendezvous with the Brits, who came out to meet them in the four-pipers the Americans had sent the previous year. He didn’t like how “ragged” the columns were. There were “minor collisions and near-misses in the zig-zags.” He became enraged by the slapdash way in which the screen conducted its combat drills. He didn’t trust Plunkett’s navigator. And when he got back to Norfolk, he noted the poor performance of the destroyers to Admiral Ernest King, the real-life chief of naval operations during the war.


OEBPS/e9781982147839/fonts/EBGaramond-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781982147839/images/f0001-01.jpg
44

“

/&4

X
X
x
~3
D
A
L
N3
S





OEBPS/e9781982147839/xhtml/nav.xhtml


Contents



		Cover


		Title Page


		Dedication


		List of Crew Members


		Part I: The Dawn

		Chapter 1: The Goddamned Harbor


		Chapter 2: Boston


		Chapter 3: Underway


		Chapter 4: Overland


		Chapter 5: Casablanca


		Chapter 6: Steaming as Before







		Part II: The Med

		Chapter 7: Thornton, Colorado


		Chapter 8: Sicily


		Chapter 9: Palermo


		Chapter 10: The Boot


		Chapter 11: Readying


		Chapter 12: Salerno







		Part III: The Dusk

		Chapter 13: Overland, Missouri


		Chapter 14: The Fall


		Chapter 15: Anzio


		Chapter 16: Aftermath







		Photographs


		Appendix: Killed and Missing in Action at Anzio


		Acknowledgments


		About the Author


		Notes


		Copyright







Guide



		Cover


		Start of Content


		Title Page


		Dedication


		Appendix


		Acknowledgments


		About the Author


		Notes


		Copyright








		IV


		V


		VII


		VIII


		IX


		X


		XI


		XII


		XIII


		XIV


		1


		2


		3


		4


		5


		6


		7


		8


		9


		10


		11


		12


		13


		14


		15


		16


		17


		18


		19


		20


		21


		22


		23


		24


		25


		26


		27


		28


		29


		30


		31


		32


		33


		34


		35


		36


		37


		38


		39


		40


		41


		42


		43


		44


		45


		46


		47


		48


		49


		50


		51


		52


		53


		54


		55


		56


		57


		58


		59


		60


		61


		62


		63


		64


		65


		66


		67


		68


		69


		70


		71


		72


		73


		74


		75


		76


		77


		78


		79


		80


		81


		82


		83


		84


		85


		86


		87


		88


		89


		90


		91


		92


		93


		94


		95


		96


		97


		98


		99


		100


		101


		102


		103


		104


		105


		106


		107


		108


		109


		110


		111


		112


		113


		114


		115


		116


		117


		118


		119


		120


		121


		122


		123


		124


		125


		126


		127


		128


		129


		130


		131


		132


		133


		134


		135


		136


		137


		138


		139


		140


		141


		142


		143


		144


		145


		146


		147


		148


		149


		150


		151


		152


		153


		154


		155


		156


		157


		158


		159


		160


		161


		162


		163


		164


		165


		166


		167


		168


		169


		170


		171


		172


		173


		174


		175


		176


		177


		178


		179


		180


		181


		182


		183


		184


		185


		186


		187


		188


		189


		190


		191


		192


		193


		194


		195


		196


		197


		198


		199


		200


		201


		202


		203


		204


		205


		206


		207


		208


		209


		210


		211


		212


		213


		214


		215


		216


		217


		218


		219


		220


		221


		222


		223


		224


		225


		226


		227


		228


		229


		230


		231


		232


		233


		234


		235


		236


		237


		238


		239


		240


		241


		242


		243


		244


		245


		246


		247


		248


		249


		250


		251


		252


		253


		254


		255


		256


		257


		258


		259


		260


		261


		262


		263


		264


		265


		266


		267


		268


		269


		270


		271


		272


		273


		274


		275


		276


		277


		278


		279


		280


		281


		282


		283


		284


		285


		286


		287


		288


		289


		290


		291


		292


		293


		294


		295


		296


		297


		298


		299


		300


		301


		302


		303


		304


		305


		306


		307


		308


		309


		310


		311


		312


		313


		314


		315


		316


		317


		318


		319


		320


		321


		322


		323


		324


		325


		326


		327


		328


		329


		330


		331


		332


		333


		334


		335


		336


		337


		338


		339


		340


		341


		342


		343


		344


		345


		346


		347


		348


		349


		350


		351


		352


		353


		354


		355


		356


		357


		358


		359


		360


		361


		362


		363


		364


		365


		366


		367


		368


		369


		370


		371


		372


		373


		374


		375


		376


		377


		378


		379


		380


		381


		382


		383


		384


		385


		386


		387


		388


		389


		390


		391


		392


		393


		394


		395


		396


		397


		398


		399








OEBPS/e9781982147839/fonts/RobotoCondensed-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781982147839/fonts/RobotoCondensed-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781982147839/fonts/EBGaramond-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781982147839/fonts/EBGaramond-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781982147839/images/9781982147839.jpg
PN 3 , . i il 9 N





OEBPS/e9781982147839/images/title.jpg
UNSINKABLE

FIVE MEN AND THE INDOMITABLE
RUN OF THE USS PLUNKETT

=

| ==

=
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